MLL histone methylases in gene expression, hormone signaling and cell cycle

Khairul I. Ansari, Bibhu P. Mishra, Subhrangsu S. Mandal

Gene Regulation and Disease Laboratory, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, The University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, Texas 76019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

3. MLL, histone methylation and gene expression

3.1. H3K4 methylation in yeast and its roles on transcription

3.2. MLLs are human histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) specific methyl-transferases

3.3. MLLs are present as multi protein complexes

3.4. MLL interacting proteins play critical roles in histone methylation and MLL target gene expression

3.5. MLLs are key regulators of Hox genes

3.6. MLLs interact with nuclear hormone receptors and regulate hormone dependent gene expression

3.7. MLLs and cell cycle regulation

3.7.1. MLLs interact with cell cycle regulatory proteins

3.7.2. MLL target Hox genes in cell cycle regulation

4. Discussion

5. Acknowledgements

6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Histone methyl-transferases (HMTs) are key enzymes that post-translationally methylate nuclear histone proteins and play critical roles in gene expression, epigenetic regulation and diseases in eukaryotic organisms. Mixed lineage leukemias (MLLs) are human HMTs that specifically methylate histone H3 at lyisine-4 and regulate gene activation. MLLs are also well known to be rearranged often in acute myeloid and lymphoid leukemias. Human encodes several MLLs that have similar enzymatic activities but diverse functions. Herein, we have reviewed the recent advances in understanding the diverse functions of MLL family of HMTs in gene regulation, hormone signaling and cell cycle regulation in human.

2. INTRODUCTION

In eukaryotes, DNA, the blue print of life, is packaged inside the nucleus in the form of complex chromatin (1, 2). The molecular mechanism by which the genetic information is packaged inside the chromatin, transcribed and regulated is poorly understood. Nucleosome, the repeating unit of chromatin, contains four histone proteins (two copies each), H2A, H2B, H3, and H4. These histones undergo various kinds of posttranslational modifications such as acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, etc and determine the "active" or "silent" states of genes (3-5) (Figure 1 and Table 1). Histone acetylation is generally associated with gene activation. Histone methylation, however based on the nature and

		Н3			H4
K4	К9	K27	K36	K79	K20
MLL1,	G9A,	ZH2	SETD2,	Dot1L/ KMT4	Pr-SET7
MLL2,	Su39H1,		HYPB,		SET8,
MLL3	Su39H2,		NSD1		SUV4-20
MLL4,	EU-HMTase1,				
Set1A,	ESET,				
Set1B,	SETDB1				
Set9					
Transcriptional activation	Heterochromatin formatie transcriptional silencing	on, Gene silencing	Transcription elongation, Chromatin maintenance	Telomere silencing, meiotic check point, DNA damage	Heterochromatin formation

Table 1. Histone lysine methylations and their functions

Table 2	Drotoing	acconinted	with	Sat1	lika U	MT	aamn	lavag	in .	woost and	humon
I able 2.	Proteins	associated	with	Sell	пке п		comp	lexes	III '	yeast and	numan

	Yeast				Human			
Complexes	Set1	Set1	MLL1	MLL2	MLL3	MLL4	MLL5	
	Set1	Set1A&B						
	Bre2	Ash2	Ash2	Ash2	Ash2	Ash2		
	Spp1	CGBP	CGBP	CGBP	CGBP			
	SWd1	Rbbp5	Rbbp5	Rbbp5	Rbbp5	Rbbp5		
onents	Swd2	Swd2						
	Swd3	WDR5	WDR5	WDR5	WDR5	WDR5		
du	Sdc1	Dpy30	Dpy30	Dpy30	Dpy30	Dpy30		
0			Menin	Menin				
U	HCF1	HCF1	HCF1					
			ERα	ERα	ERα	ERα		
				ASC-2	ASC-2	ASC-2		
			MOF					

position of the modification, are associated with both gene activation and silencing (4, 6-12). For example, methylations of histone H3 at lysine-4 (K4) and K36 are found in active genes; while methylations at H3K9, K27, and H4K20 are associated with silent genes (74, 78) (see Table 1 and Figure 1 for different types of histone lysine methylations and their functions). Presence of various histone deacetylase and demethylases in cells makes these modification marks reversible (13-16). Although, various histone modifying enzymes have been discovered, their detail function in gene regulation and disease are largely unknown and are just beginning to be revealed. In this review we discussed the recent advancements in understanding the functions of mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) family of histone methyl-transferases (HMTs) that methylate specifically histone H3K4 and are linked with gene expression, hormone signaling, cell cycle regulation and cancer.

3. MLL, HISTONE METHYLATION AND GENE EXPRESSION

3.1. H3K4 methylation in yeast and its roles on transcription

H3K4 methylation is an evolutionarily conserved mark closely associated with transcriptionally active chromatin (2). The function of H3K4 methylation is well studied in yeast (17). Set1 is the sole H3K4 specific HMT present in yeast (7, 18, 19) and a SET1 null mutation results in a slow-growth phenotype (18, 20, 21). In yeast, Set1 interacts physically with RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) during transcription and regulates gene expression (22-24). Set1 mediated trimethylation of H3K4 is associated with early phase of transcription and have been implicated with transcriptional memory (23). Set1 mediated histone methylation is functionally coupled with histone H2B monoubiquitination, Paf1 complex and other transcription factors involved in transcriptional regulation (22, 23, 25-27). In yeast Set1 is a component of a multi-protein complex (known as COMPASS) containing subunits Set1, Bre2, Spp1, Swd1, Swd2, Swd3, and Sdc1 (Table 2) and its HMT activity is fully active only in the context of a multiprotein-subunit complex. Recently, it has also been demonstrated that Set1 is required for methylation of conserved lysines in a kinetochore protein, Dam1, suggesting its important roles in mitosis (7).

response

3.2. MLLs are human histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) specific methyl-transferases

The Set1 HMT has diverged and became more complex in higher eukaryotes (17, 28-35). In mammals, six different Set1 homologs have been characterized: MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, Set1A and Set1B, collectively known as MLL family of HMTs (Table 2) (36, 37). Like yeast Set1, each of these MLL family of HMTs possess H3K4-specific methylation activities and are associated with gene activation (38-42). In spite of their similar enzymatic activity (H3K4-methylation), our sequence analysis demonstrates that these proteins do not share more than 30 % sequence homology. However, each of them contains a conserved SET domain (responsible for HMT activity) and various protein-protein and protein-DNA interaction domains (Figure 2) (28, 34, 43-45). MLL1 and MLL3 contain multiple DNA binding AT hook domains that may be responsible for targeting them into specific gene promoters. MLL1 and MLL4 contain CXXC Zn finger motifs that may also be involved in DNA binding and in gene targeting. Each of the MLLs (MLL1-4) contains multiple PHD domains (plant homeodomain) that are involved in protein-protein interaction and often found in chromatin associated proteins (Figure 2). The PHD domains present in MLLs have been implicated in



Figure 1. Methylation of Histone H3 at lysine-4 (H3K4) by MLLs and Set1 is linked with gene activation.



Figure 2. Domain structures of MLLs. PHD (plant homodomain) are usually involved in protein-protein interaction; FYRN and FYRC domains are involved in hetero-dimmerization between MLL^N and MLL^C terminal fragments. LXXLL domain (also known as NR box) are involved in interaction with nuclear receptor (NR). BROMO domains are involved in the recognition of acetylated lysine residues in histone tails. RRM is the RNA recognition motif. Taspase1 site is the proteolytic site for the protease Taspase1. AT-hook is a DNA binding domain. RING fingers are involved in protein-protein interactions. CXXC-zf is a Zn-finger domain that is involved in protein-protein interaction. SET is responsible for histone lysine methylation. HMG domains are involved in binding DNA with low sequence specificity. Coiled coil domains mediate homo-oligomerization.

interactions with histone deacetylases (HDACs), polycomb group proteins (PcGs) and with methylated lysines in histone tails (45, 46). The FYDN and FYDC are two interesting domains that are present in MLL^N and MLL^C terminal regions of MLL1 (47-49). These domains are involved in forming heterodimers between MLL^N and MLL^C terminal fragments produced upon proteolysis of MLL1 by protease Taspase1 (Figure 2) (47-49). LXXLL domain (also known as NR box) present in MLLs make these proteins interesting for nuclear receptor mediated gene activation and hormone signaling (33, 50-52). In fact, MLL2, MLL3, and MLL4 that contain multiple LXXLL domains are shown to interact with nuclear receptors and play important roles in hormone dependent gene activation (33, 50-52). Although, further studies are needed to elucidate the detail function of different domains present in MLLs, their importance have been addressed using deletion mutation experiments in mice models which showed that progressive deletion of MLL functional domains leads to progressively more severe phenotypes (53-55).

The multiplicity of MLL family of HMTs in vertebrate genomes indicates that MLLs may have specialized functions likely in regulating differential expression of specific target genes or in methylation of distinct non-histone proteins for other functions. The distinguishable phenotypes of deletions or truncations in MLL1, MLL2 and MLL3 genes in mice suggests that MLL proteins are not redundant in their function but instead are specialized to deal with the regulatory complexity of vertebrate development (29, 51, 56). Like Drosophila Trx, mammalian MLL1 and MLL2 have a role in long-term maintenance of Hox gene expression patterns that play important role in specifying cell fate during development and hematopoiesis (29, 51, 56).

In addition to the critical roles in histone methylation and gene regulations, rearrangements of the MLL1 is well known in a variety of aggressive human leukemias, including acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) (1,2, 20, 54). These rearrangements take several forms. The most common are balanced translocations in which the genomic sequences encoding the N-terminal portions of MLL1 are fused to sequences encoding the C-terminus of another translocation partner. Notably, chromosomal breakpoints are found in a consistent region of MLL1 (Figure 2) and more than 40 different MLL1 fusions have been described (23, 57-59). When these genes are transcribed, spliced, and translated, results in an in-frame fusion protein with oncogenic activity. The most frequent translocations in MLL1 are the t (4;11) and t (11;19) translocations, which are associated with the expression of MLL-AF4 and MLL-ENL, respectively, and a pro-B cell or mixed lineage phenotype (43, 44). At least 50% of cases of infant ALL harbor the t (4;11) translocation (43, 44). The frequent occurrence of the t (4;11) translocation in infant leukemia suggests that MLL-AF4 is unusually potent and less dependent on secondary genetic 'hits' for leukemia development. MLL2 and MLL3 are also frequently amplified in solid tumors, pancreatic carcinoma and glioblastomas (60, 61).

3.3. MLLs are present as multi protein complexes

Considering the importance in gene expression and disease, various researchers have isolated different MLL family of HMTs from human cells and characterized their protein composition and function (36, 41, 62-64). These studies demonstrated that MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, Set1A, and Set1B are present in distinct multiprotein complexes inside the cells and each of these complexes shares several common subunits which includes Ash2, Rbbp5 (retinoblastoma binding protein 5) and Wdr5 (WD40 repeat containing protein) along with several unique components (Table 2). By sequence analysis it is established that Ash2, Rbbp5, Wdr5 and CGBP (human CpG binding protein, also known as CFP1) are human homolog of veast Set1 complex components Bre2, Swd1, Swd3, Sdc1 and Spp1 respectively (36). Recently, using purification method, we have immuno affinity demonstrated that CGBP interacts with at least four different HMTs MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, and Set1 and is a core component of these functionally active HMTs (65 and unpublished observation). Similarly, Cho et al. (2007) showed Dpy30 (a dosage compensation protein) as a common interacting subunit of MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, and Set1 complexes (66). Although, these protein complexes have been isolated, the detail functions of MLLs and their interacting components in histone methylation, gene expressions, and diseases still remain elusive.

3.4. MLL interacting proteins play critical roles in histone methylation and MLL target gene expression

The findings that there are at least five core components (Ash2, Rbbp5, Wdr5, Dpy30 and CGBP) shared by several human H3K4 specific HMT complexes and these core components are evolutionarily conserved from yeast to human, suggest that they play important roles in regulating MLL mediated histone methylation and target gene expression (see Figure 3 for scheme showing the roles of MLLs in transcription activation). Recently, Wysocka et al. (2005) demonstrated that MLL interacting protein Wdr5 is required for histone H3K4 trimethylation (67). Wdr5 binds preferentially to dimethylated H3K4 and knock down of Wdr5 results in decreased expression of MLL1 target genes HoxA9 and HoxC8 without affecting binding of MLL1 complexes to these target gene promoters (67). Moreover, independent knock down of Rbbp5 and Ash2 also reduced expression of HoxA9 and HoxC8 (67). Dou et al. (2005) showed that MLL1 recruitment to either the HoxA9 or HoxC8 locus was not disturbed upon knock down of either Wdr5, Rbbp5, or Ash2 (28, 41). These observations indicate that the core components Wdr5, Rbbp5 and Ash2 are not involved in MLL1 recruitment but regulate MLL1 associated histone methylation activity. Shilatifard and colleagues showed that Ash2 is also pivotal for trimethylation of MLL1 target gene promoters (40). The combined siRNA knock down results demonstrated that all three core components, Wdr5, Rbbp5 and Ash2, are needed for Hox gene expression and this requirement lies in the regulation of H3K4 dimethylation and trimethylation (40).

In contrast to Wdr5, Rbbp5, and Ash2, results from our laboratory demonstrated that antisense mediated knockdown of core component CGBP not only decreased



Figure 3. Schematic diagram showing the roles of MLLs in ligand dependent and independent gene activation. Left panels: Roles of MLLs in ligand independent target genes activation. Prior to transcription initiation, MLL complexes are recruited to the promoter of their target genes. The recruitment may be via direct interaction of MLLs methylate H3K4 that help recruiting transcription machineries including RNA polymerase II leading to transcription initiation. Right panels: Roles of MLLs in transactivation of hormone dependent genes. In presence of hormones, nuclear hormone receptors (NR) get activated and bind to the nuclear hormone responsive elements (NRE). Activated NRs interact directly with NRs via its NRbox (LXXLL motifs) or via MLL interacting proteins such ASC-2 (or Menin, not shown in the figure) that contains NR boxes. Upon recruitments, MLLs may directly act as co-activator leading to transactivation of the gene or MLL may introduce the H3K4 methylation marks in the promoter leading to gene activation.

the level of promoter H3K4 trimethylation and expression of MLL target H0xA7 gene but also abolished the recruitment of MLL1 into its promoter (65). Notably, CGBP has "AT-hook" and "CXXC znf" DNA binding

motifs and we hypothesize that these motifs play critical role in recruiting the MLL complexes into their specific target gene promoters (Figure 3) (65, 68, 69). Although recent studies have provided important insights into how histone methylation is regulated by bringing together specific HMTs and histone tails via interacting components such as Wdr5, Ash2, CGBP etc, their detail implication in the gene expression, cell differentiation, and development are poorly understood.

3.5. MLLs are key regulators of Hox genes

Hox genes are a group of evolutionarily conserved homeobox containing genes that play crucial roles in embryonic development. Orchestrated expression of Hox genes determines the positional tissue differentiation in higher organisms (70). Hox genes also express throughout postnatal life and play important roles in hematopoietic cell differentiation (71-73). The Hox genes encode a complex network of transcription regulatory proteins whose precise targets remain poorly understood. The overall function of the network appears to be dictated by gene dosage. Human encodes 39 Hox genes located in four different clusters (HoxA: HoxA1-7, 9-13; HoxB: HoxB1-9; HoxC: HoxC4-13 and HoxD: HoxD1, 3, 4, 8-13) on chromosomes at 7p15, 17p21, 12q13 and 2q31, respectively. Several developmental disorders have been traced to mutations in different Hox genes and most of the Hox genes (except that in cluster D) are expressed in hematopoietic stem cells.

Genetic studies in both mice and flies established that MLLs regulate Hox and other homeotic genes expression (56, 74). MLLs control the maintenance but not the initiation of expression of Hox genes during embryogenesis (75). Inactivation of the MLL gene in mice by homologous recombination (knock out) showed that MLLs are not only regulator of hematopoiesis but also are master regulator in embryonic development and hence disruption of MLL expression results in embryonic lethality (43, 55, 76). Studies showed that knock down of MLL results in Hox gene expression abnormalities especially the expression of HoxA7, HoxA9, HoxA10, HoxC4, HoxC8, and HoxC9 in whole embryos, fetal liver or in cultured human cells (43, 55, 65, 76-78). Analysis of the MLL super complex demonstrated direct binding of MLL1 to HoxA7, HoxA9 and HoxC8 promoters (65, 77, 78). Mice heterozygous for MLL-exon3LacZ allele display abnormal homeotic transformations with altered Hox gene expression. Disruption of MLL-exon3LacZ causes haploinsufficiency with bidirectional homeotic transformations and shift anterior boundaries of several Hox genes (76). Using MLL1^{-/-} deficient embryos and mouse embryonic fibroblasts it is demonstrated that MLL1 is required for the maintenance of selected Hox gene expression (56, 75, 79). Several studies targeting the mouse homologs of genes encoding fusion partners of MLL gave evidence that MLLs are regulators of cell differentiation. Reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) analysis of MPMP cell lines immortalized by five different MLL fusion proteins revealed a characteristic HoxA gene expression profile and found that all lines expressed HoxA7, HoxA9, HoxA10 and HoxA11 at the 5' end of the HoxA cluster. In contrast, 3' end HoxA

genes were variably expressed with periodicity, as evidenced by low levels of HoxA1, higher levels of HoxA3 and HoxA5 and complete absence of HoxA2, HoxA4 and HoxA6 expression (80). Contrary to these findings the Taspase1 RNAi (Taspase1 is essential for cleavage of pre-MLL1 peptide to generate, functional of MLL1 protein) in HeLa cells led to diminished expression of selected Hox genes across the HoxA cluster (47-49, 81). Knockdown of Taspase1 diminished the expression of the 3' located and "earlier" expressed genes in the HoxA cluster (A1, A3, and A4), but not those genes located towards more 5' and expressed "later" during embryonic development (A5, A9 and A10) (47-49, 81). This selected attenuation contrasts with the global decrease in expression of most HoxA genes (A1 to A10) in cells with MLL knocked down. These data support the importance of Taspase1 in the correct expression of the early HoxA gene cluster (47-49, 81).

In agreement with genetic studies and mutational analysis, direct interaction of MLL complex with the HoxA7, HoxA9 and HoxC8 promoters indicates important roles of MLL in Hox gene regulation (63, 65, 78, 82). The distinctive role of MLLs in regulating different Hox genes is likely to be mediated through differential histone methylation and effects on chromatin structure (63, 65, 78, 82).

3.6. MLLs interact with nuclear hormone receptors and regulate hormone dependent gene expression

Nuclear receptors (NRs) are large family of transcription factors that are responsible for sensing the presence of hormones and have the ability to access their binding sites in the repressive chromatin (Figure 3) (33, 50-52). Nuclear receptors share a common structural organization, which include a central DNA binding domain (DBD) responsible for targeting the receptor to highly specific DNA sequences comprising a response element (33, 50-52). The ligand binding domain (LBD) is present in the C-terminal half of the receptor and recognizes specific hormonal and non-hormonal ligands directing specificity to the biological response. During ligand binding the conserved C-terminal AF2 (present in LBD) domain undergoes structural changes that are recognized by a helical LXXLL motif (NR box) present in the transcriptional co-activators and functionally convert NRs to a transcriptional activator (33, 50-52) (Figure 3). Numerous co-regulatory proteins (co-activators and corepressors) have been identified that control transcriptional regulation via interaction with nuclear receptors.

Activating signal cointegrator-2 (ASC-2) is a coactivator of multiple nuclear receptors including retinoic acid receptors (RAR) and estrogen receptors (ER) (33, 50, 51). ASC-2 is present as a multi-protein complex known as ASCOM (ASC-2 complex) (30). In addition to ASC-2, ASCOM contains histone methyl-tranferases such as MLL3, MLL4 and MLL interacting proteins Rbbp5, Wdr5, Ash2 etc. ASC-2 interacts with RAR via its LXXLL domain and is recruited to the promoter of RAR target genes along with other ASCOM components (30). ASC-2 acts as an adaptor for RAR-dependent recruitment of MLL3 and MLL4 to RAR target genes (51, 52). Using a mice model Lee et al. (2006) showed that the mutation in SET domain or ASC-2-null mutation in embryonic fibroblasts impaired H3K4 trimethylation of RAR target gene RAR-beta-2 (51, 52). Similarly, knock down of both MLL3 and MLL4 impaired H3K4 trimethylation in the RAR-beta-2 promoter in embryonic fibroblasts (51, 52). Similar roles of ASC-2 have been reported in case of transcriptional regulation of liver X receptors (LRX), where ASC-2 is required for ligand induced recruitment of MLL3 and MLL4 to LXRs target genes promoters. LXR ligand T1317 induces not only expression of LXR-target genes but also their H3K4-trimethylation. Strikingly, both of these ligand effects are ablated in ASC-2-null mutant cells but only partially suppressed in cells expressing an enzymatically inactive mutant MLL3. These observations indicate that ASC-2 is critical for the ligand dependent trans-activation of RAR and LXR target genes (51, 52).

In addition, the findings that MLL3 and MLL4 are found in distinct ASC-2 containing complexes and are separately recruited to RAR-beta-2 by ASC-2, suggest that MLL3 and MLL4 are present in different ASCOM complexes and ASC-2 confers target gene specificity to MLL3 (ASCOM-MLL3) and MLL4 (ASCOM-MLL4) complexes (51, 52). The ASCOM-MLL3 and ASCOM-MLL4 complexes play redundant but essential roles in ligand-dependent H3K4 trimethylation and expression of NR-target genes, and ASC-2 is likely a key determinant for NR to function through ASCOM. Notably, MLL3 and MLL4 are also found to be present as ASC-2 independent H3K4 HMT complexes, although their detail functions still remain elusive.

In addition to the association of MLLs in ASCOM complex, MLL2 and MLL interacting protein Menin are shown to interact directly with NR (51, 52). MLL2 as well as Menin contain multiple LXXLL motifs through which they interact with estrogen receptors (ERalpha) and regulate estrogen responsive genes. SiRNA mediated knockdown of MLL2 impaired ER-alpha mediated transactivation of estrogen induced genes such as cathepsin D and to a lesser extent pS2 and inhibited cellular growth (32, 33). Moreover, truncated MLL2 fragment, which only contains the region necessary for binding to ER-alpha, acts as a potent dominant-negative inhibitor of the ER-alpha trans-activation. Similarly, Menin serves as a critical link between activated ER-alpha and H3K4 trimethylation in case of transcription of the estrogen-regulated TFF1 gene (33, 50, 51). Additionally, Menin as an integral component of MLL complex links MLL1/MLL2 complexes to activated nuclear receptors. In addition, as MLL2 contains several N-terminal ring finger domain (Figure 2) that are often associated with ubiquitin ligases, it may also be linked with the degradation of ER-alpha and it is well established that the activation of ERalpha is coupled with its degradation (83). Notably, histone methylases MLL3 and MLL4 that also contain multiple NR boxes, are implicated in estrogen receptor mediated gene activation (84).

3.7. MLL and cell cycle regulation

The cell cycle is a vital process by which cells divide into daughter cells. The cell cycle consists of four

distinct phases: G1 (gap 1), S (synthesis), G2 (gap 2) and M (mitosis) phases. M phase is composed of two tightly coupled processes: mitosis, in which the chromosomes are divided between the two daughter cells and cytokinesis, in which the cytoplasm divides forming distinct cells. Proper maintenance and progression of these stages are critical for normal cellular process (85). Cyclin family of proteins which function as the regulatory subunit of cyclin dependent kinases (CDK) regulate the progression of cell cycle by varying their levels of gene expression. For example, cyclin D shows a continuous expression in all the different phases and thus controls the entry and progression throughout the cell cycle. Cyclin E is required for the transition from G1 to S phase while cyclin A helps the cell to move from S to G2 phase. Cyclin B is responsible for the cell to reach mitosis (85).

3.7.1. MLLs interact with cell cycle regulatory proteins

Numerous evidences indicate that MLLs play crucial role in cell cycle progression (Figure 4) (41, 49, 86, 87). The functional roles of MLLs in cell cycle regulation are supported by the observation that the knock out of Taspase1 results in down-regulation of Cyclin E, A and B and up-regulation of p16 (a S phase inhibitor) (49). Notably, Taspase1, a threonine endopeptidase, cleaves MLL at conserved sites to generate N-terminal 320-kDa (MLL^N) and C-terminal 180 kDa (MLL^C) fragments. Proteolysis of MLL1 by Taspase1 is required to fully activate its HMT activity. Using chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) experiments, Takeda et al. (2006) demonstrated that MLL1 is occupied in the promoters of cyclin E1 and E2 genes and there was a marked reduction in H3K4 trimethylation level as well as the MLL occupancy at the cyclin E1 and cyclin E2 promoters in Taspase1 negative cells (49). Taspase1 deficiency also resulted in upregulation of S-phase inhibitor protein p16 (49).

Similar to cyclins. E2F family proteins (E2F1-E2F6) are key transcription factors responsible for activation of cell cycle related genes including cyclins (41, 49, 86, 87). Using immuno-precipitation experiments, Takeda et al. (2006) demonstrated that MLL1 interacts with several E2Fs (such as E2F2, E2F4 and E2F6), while MLL2 interacts with a different subset of E2Fs such as E2F2, E2F3, E2F5 and E2F6 (49). In an independent experiment, Dou et al. (2005) performed the immunopurification of Wdr5 associated HMTs from human cells and demonstrated that Wdr5 interacts with MLLs along with E2F6 (41). Distinct interactions between E2Fs and MLLs suggest potential roles of MLL proteins in the cell cycle regulation (41). In addition, over expression of MLL5 induced cell cycle arrest in G1 phase and knock down of MLL5 resulted in cell cycle arrest both at G2/M and G1 phases (88, 89). These studies indicate that MLL families of HMTs are critical for cell cycle regulation.

In addition to MLLs, MLL interacting proteins are also shown to be linked with cell cycle regulation. Milne *et al* (2004) showed that Menin, in a cooperative interaction with MLLs, regulates the expression of CDK inhibitors like p27 and p18 (90). Menin activates



Figure 4. Roles of MLLs in cell cycle regulation. MLL target genes HoxA5 and HoxA10 inhibit cell cycle at G1 phase through upregulation of CDK inhibitor p21. MLL5 inhibits cyclin-CDK complex possibly involving p21. MLLs interact with E2Fs and regulate differential expression of cyclins that regulate proper cell cycle progression. HCF1, a MLL interacting protein, is involved in progression of G1. The C-terminal of HCF1 is essential for proper cytokinesis.

transcription of p27 and p18 by recruiting MLL1 to their promoters and knock down of Menin resulted in down regulation of p27 and p18 expression leading to deregulated cell growth and tumorigenesis (90). HCF-1 (host cell factor 1) is another critical protein that interacts with MLLs and Set1 (64). Knock down of HCF-1 results in dinucleated cells and inhibits cell divisions by arresting the cells in G1 phase (87). HCF1 c-terminal domain has been linked with this dinucleated cells implicating its roles in cytokinesis. Furthermore, using ChIP experiments Tyagi *et al.* (2007) demonstrated that HCF-1 recruits MLL1 and Set1 to E2F responsive promoters during G1 to S phase transition and induces histone methylation and transcriptional activation (87). Association of HCF-1 and E2F are versatile and binding to E2F responsive promoters are cell cycle selective (87). HCF-1 binds both to activator E2Fs like E2F1 and E2F3a and repressor E2Fs like E2F4. Thus, HCF-1 plays dual role both in induction and suppression of vital cell cycle regulatory proteins. HCF-1 selectively associates with activator H3K4 HMT complexes, when bound to E2F1 to activate transcription. It acts as a repressor in association with Sin3 HDAC complex when bound to E2F4 (87).

Our recent studies demonstrated a defined dynamics of MLL histone methylases during cell cycle.

MLL1 which is normally associated with transcriptionally active chromatins (in G1 phase), dissociated from condensed mitotic chromatin, migrated away to the cytoplasm and returned back at the end of telophase when nucleus starts to relax (unpublished observation). However, the global level of MLL1 does not get affected. In contrast, Liu et al. (2008) demonstrated a biphasic expression of MLL1 conferred by defined windows of degradation mediated by specialized cell cycle specific E3 ligases (48). They found that MLL1 is marked by SCFSkp2 and APCCdc20 for degradation at S phase and late M phase respectively. They also found that abolished peak expression of MLL1 incurs corresponding defects in G1/S transition and M-phase progression while over expression of MLL1 blocks S-phase progression (48). Their data indicated that a post-translational regulation of MLL1 by the cell cycle ubiquitin/proteasome system (UPS) assures the temporal necessity of MLL1 in coordinating cell cycle.

3.7.2. MLL target Hox genes in cell cycle regulation

The role of MLLs in cell cycle is further emphasized by the involvement of MLL regulated Hox genes in cell cycle. Recent studies demonstrated that HoxA5 activates p53, which is known to regulate the expression of p21, an inhibitor of CDK enzymes that is critical for cell cycle progression (91, 92). Furthermore, Bromleigh and Freedman (2000) showed that Hox A10 directly upregulates the expression of p21 leading to cell cycle arrest at the G1 phase in both monocytic and fibroblast cell lines (92). It is interesting to note that both p21 and p53 plays vital roles in cell cycle regulation. p21 is a CDK inhibitor which inhibits the protein kinase activity of cylin-CDK2 and cyclin-CDK4 complexes. Thus, p21 functions as a regulator of cell cycle progression at G1 phase. p53 is responsible for holding cells at G1/S transition by regulating the expression of p21 and activating the DNA repair proteins when DNA damage is recognized in the cell. It is also responsible for initiating apoptosis if the DNA damage is found to be irreparable. Thus, we hypothesize that HoxA5, like HoxA10, regulates cell cycle through p53 and p21 channel. Also recently, Qian et al. (2005) showed that HoxA10 is responsible for differentiation of human endometrial stromal cells under progesterone treatment by regulating the expression of another G1 inhibitor p57 (93). They observed a lower expression of HoxA10 when the level of p57 is high under progesterone application. Lu et. al. (2008) further reported that a higher percentage of cells arrested at the G2/M phase of cell cycle under the application of siRNA against HoxA10. While the level of apoptosis was insignificant, the number of cells arrested in G1 stage was considerably lower than the number of cells arrested in G2/M phase (94).

In our laboratory we synchronized cells in G1/S phase by the application of double thymidine treatment procedure and analyzed the expression pattern of HoxA10 at different stages of cell cycle and found that the level of expression for HoxA10 is very high in the S phase which goes significantly down in the G2/M phase and completely absent in G1 phase (unpublished observations). Most importantly down regulation of selected MLLs resulted in cell cycle arrest and inhibits cellular growth (unpublished

observation). Although, the detail roles of MLLs and their interacting proteins in cell cycle regulation is still not clear, multiple lines of evidence indicate that MLLs play critical role in regulation of cell cycle and cell cycle regulatory genes (Figure 4).

4. DISCUSSION

Understanding the functions of histone H3K4 methylation is crucial to uncover the complex gene regulatory network and underlying molecular mechanism of various human diseases. H3K4 methylation marks are well recognized as marks for transcriptionally active chromatins. The role of H3K4 methylation is well studied in yeast, but the same is not very clear in higher eukaryotes (95). Set1 is the sole H3K4 specific HMT present in yeast. In contrast, human encodes several yeast Set1 homologs (such as MLL1, MLL2, MLL3, MLL4, Set1A and Set1B) suggesting increased complexity of these enzymes and their functions in regulating gene expression (36, 39, 67). Although, recent discoveries of MLL associated HMT activities and their interacting proteins shed significant light in the complex function of MLL in gene regulation, the distinct functions of different MLLs are still not clear. Increasing amount of evidence indicate that different MLLs form distinct interactions with proteins involved in nuclear receptor mediated gene activation, cell cycle regulation or with chromatin remodeling (Figures 3 and 4). These findings suggest that different MLLs are involved in different specialized functions, although further investigations are need to fully elucidate their mechanisms (Figures 3 and 4).

Although, at this point, significant efforts are being invested in understanding the functions of MLL proteins in target gene regulation and disease, little is known about their own regulation in normal/cancer cells or under stress. Recent studies from our laboratory suggest that MLLs are miss-regulated under toxic and carcinogenic stress establishing a novel link between MLL, stress response and carcinogenesis (unpublished observation). With the present pace of investigations by different laboratories, we hope that within next decade or so, we will have lot more understanding about the complex function of MLLs in gene regulation, stress response and disease that will help in developing novel therapy.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We apologize to those colleagues whose works could not be cited because of the limitation in length of the article. We thank Bishakha Shrestha, Saoni Mandal and other Mandal lab members for their critical comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by grants from Texas Advanced Research Program (ARP 00365-0009-2006) and American Heart Association (SM 0765160Y).

6. REFERENCES

1. Orphanides G., D. Reinberg: A unified theory of gene expression. *Cell* 108, 439-51 (2002)

2. Sims R. J., 3rd, S. S. Mandal, D. Reinberg: Recent highlights of RNA-polymerase-II-mediated transcription. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 16, 263-71 (2004)

3. Fischle W., Y. Wang, C. D. Allis: Histone and chromatin cross-talk. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 15, 172-83 (2003)

4. Jenuwein T., C. D. Allis: Translating the histone code. *Science* 293, 1074-80 (2001)

5. Peterson C. L., M. A. Laniel: Histones and histone modifications. *Curr Biol* 14, R546-51 (2004)

6. Kubicek S., T. Jenuwein: A crack in histone lysine methylation. *Cell* 119, 903-6 (2004)

7. Martin C., Y. Zhang: The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6, 838-849 (2005)

8. Rice J. C., C. D. Allis: Code of silence. *Nature* 414, 258-61 (2001)

9. Strahl B. D., C. D. Allis: The language of covalent histone modifications. *Nature* 403, 41-5 (2000)

10. Zhang K., S. Y. Dent: Histone modifying enzymes and cancer: going beyond histones. *J Cell Biochem* 96, 1137-48 (2005)

11. Bhaumik S. R., E. Smith, A. Shilatifard: Covalent modifications of histones during development and disease pathogenesis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 14, 1008-16 (2007)

12. Lee J. S., A. Shukla, J. Schneider, S. K. Swanson, M. P. Washburn, L. Florens, S. R. Bhaumik, A. Shilatifard: Histone crosstalk between H2B monoubiquitination and H3 methylation mediated by COMPASS. *Cell* 131, 1084-96 (2007)

13. Miao F., X. Wu, L. Zhang, A. D. Riggs, R. Natarajan: Histone methylation patterns are cell-type specific in human monocytes and lymphocytes and well maintained at core genes. *J Immunol* 180, 2264-9 (2008)

14. Wang J., K. Scully, X. Zhu, L. Cai, J. Zhang, G. G. Prefontaine, A. Krones, K. A. Ohgi, P. Zhu, I. Garcia-Bassets, F. Liu, H. Taylor, J. Lozach, F. L. Jayes, K. S. Korach, C. K. Glass, X. D. Fu, M. G. Rosenfeld: Opposing LSD1 complexes function in developmental gene activation and repression programmes. *Nature* 446, 882-7 (2007)

15. Shi Y., F. Lan, C. Matson, P. Mulligan, J. R. Whetstine, P. A. Cole, R. A. Casero, Y. Shi: Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. *Cell* 119, 941-53 (2004)

16. Zhou X., H. Ma: Evolutionary history of histone demethylase families: distinct evolutionary patterns suggest functional divergence. *BMC Evol Biol* 8, 294 (2008)

17. Guenther M. G., R. G. Jenner, B. Chevalier, T. Nakamura, C. M. Croce, E. Canaani R. A. Young: Global

and Hox-specific roles for the MLL1 methyltransferase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 8603-8 (2005)

18. Briggs S. D., M. Bryk, B. D. Strahl, W. L. Cheung, J. K. Davie, S. Y. R. Dent, F. Winston, C. D. Allis: Histone H3 lysine 4 methylation is mediated by Set1 and required for cell growth and rDNA silencing in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genes Dev* 15, 3286-3295 (2001)

19. Roguev A., D. Schaft, A. Shevchenko, W. W. Pijnappel, M. Wilm, R. Aasland, A. F. Stewart: The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Set1 complex includes an Ash2 homologue and methylates histone 3 lysine 4. *Embo J* 20, 7137-48 (2001)

20. Miller, T., N. J. Krogan, J. Dover, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, M. Johnston, J. F. Greenblatt & A. Shilatifard: COMPASS: a complex of proteins associated with a trithorax-related SET domain protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 12902-7 (2001)

21. Huang J., J. R. Kent, B. Placek, K. A. Whelan, C. M. Hollow, P. Y. Zeng, N. W. Fraser, S. L. Berger: Trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 by Set1 in the lytic infection of human herpes simplex virus 1. *J Virol* 80, 5740-6 (2006)

22. Krogan N. J., J. Dover, A. Wood, J. Schneider, J. Heidt, M. A. Boateng, K. Dean, O. W. Ryan, A. Golshani, M. Johnston, J. F. Greenblatt, A. Shilatifard: The Pafl complex is required for histone H3 methylation by COMPASS and Dot1p: linking transcriptional elongation to histone methylation. *Mol Cell* 11, 721-9 (2003)

23. Ayton, P. M., M. L. Cleary: Transformation of myeloid progenitors by MLL oncoproteins is dependent on Hoxa7 and Hoxa9. *Genes Dev* 17, 2298-307 (2003)

24. Sheldon K. E., D. M. Mauger, K. M. Arndt: A Requirement for the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Pafl complex in snoRNA 3' end formation. *Mol Cell* 20, 225-36 (2005)

25. Santos-Rosa H., R. Schneider, B. E. Bernstein, N. Karabetsou, A. Morillon, C. Weise, S. L. Schreiber, J. Mellor, T. Kouzarides: Methylation of histone H3 K4 mediates association of the Isw1p ATPase with chromatin. *Mol Cell* 12, 1325-32 (2003)

26. Shahbazian M. D., K. L. Zhang, M. Grunstein: Histone H2B ubiquitylation controls processive methylation but not monomethylation by Dot1 and Set1. *Mol Cell* 19, 271-277 (2005)

27. Sims R. J., 3rd, R. Belotserkovskaya, D. Reinberg: Elongation by RNA polymerase II: the short and long of it. *Genes Dev* 18, 2437-68 (2004)

28. Dou Y., T. A. Milne, A. J. Ruthenburg, S. Lee, J. W. Lee, G. L. Verdine, C. D. Allis, R. G. Roeder: Regulation of MLL1 H3K4 methyltransferase activity by its core components. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13, 713-9 (2006)

29. Glaser S., J. Schaft, S. Lubitz, K. Vintersten, F. van der Hoeven, K. R. Tufteland, R. Aasland, K. Anastassiadis, S. L. Ang, A. F. Stewart: Multiple epigenetic maintenance factors implicated by the loss of Mll2 in mouse development. *Development* 133, 1423-32 (2006)

30. Goo Y. H., Y. C. Sohn, D. H. Kim, S. W. Kim, M. J. Kang, D. J. Jung, E. Kwak, N. A. Barlev, S. L. Berger, V. T. Chow, R. G. Roeder, D. O. Azorsa, P. S. Meltzer, P. G. Suh, E. J. Song, K. J. Lee, Y. C. Lee, J. W. Lee: Activating signal cointegrator 2 belongs to a novel steady-state complex that contains a subset of trithorax group proteins. *Mol Cell Biol* 23, 140-9 (2003)

31. Huntsman D. G., S. F. Chin, M. Muleris, S. J. Batley, V. P. Collins, L. M. Wiedemann, S. Aparicio, C. Caldas: MLL2, the second human homolog of the Drosophila trithorax gene, maps to 19q13.1 and is amplified in solid tumor cell lines. *Oncogene* 18, 7975-84 (1999)

32. Issaeva I., Y. Zonis, T. Rozovskaia, K. Orlovsky, C. M. Croce, T. Nakamura, A. Mazo, L. Eisenbach, E. Canaani: Knockdown of ALR (MLL2) reveals ALR target genes and leads to alterations in cell adhesion and growth. *Mol Cell Biol* 27, 1889-903 (2007)

33. Mo R., S. M. Rao, Y. J. Zhu: Identification of the MLL2 complex as a coactivator for estrogen receptor alpha. *J Biol Chem* 281, 15714-20 (2006)

34. Ruthenburg A. J., W. K. Wang, D. M. Graybosch, H. T. Li, C. D. Allis, D. J. Patel, G. L. Verdine: Histone H3 recognition and presentation by the WDR5 module of the MLL1 complex. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 13, 704-712 (2006)

35. Sierra J., T. Yoshida, C. A. Joazeiro, K. A. Jones: The APC tumor suppressor counteracts beta-catenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Dev* 20, 586-600 (2006)

36. Allis C. D., T. Jenuwein, D. Reinberg: Epigenetics. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y. (2006)

37. Carlone D. L., J. H. Lee, S. R. Young, E. Dobrota, J. S. Butler, J. Ruiz, D. G. Skalnik: Reduced genomic cytosine methylation and defective cellular differentiation in embryonic stem cells lacking CpG binding protein. *Mol Cell Biol* 25, 4881-91 (2005)

38. Crawford B. D., J. L. Hess: MLL core components give the green light to histone methylation. *ACS Chem Biol* 1, 495-8 (2006)

39. Cheung W. L., F. B. Turner, T. Krishnamoorthy, B. Wolner, S. H. Ahn, M. Foley, J. A. Dorsey, C. L. Peterson, S. L. Berger, C. D. Allis: Phosphorylation of histone H4 serine 1 during DNA damage requires casein kinase II in S. cerevisiae. *Curr Biol* 15, 656-60 (2005)

40. Steward M. M., J. S. Lee, A. O'Donovan, M. Wyatt, B. E. Bernstein, A. Shilatifard: Molecular regulation of H3K4

trimethylation by ASH2L, a shared subunit of MLL complexes. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 13, 852-4 (2006)

41. Dou Y. L., T. A. Milne, A. J. Tackett, E. R. Smith, A. Fukuda, J. Wysocka, C. D. Allis, B. T. Chait, J. L. Hess, R. G. Roeder: Physical association and coordinate function of the H3K4 methyltransferase MLL1 and the H4K16 acetyltransferase MOF. *Cell* 121, 873-885 (2005)

42. Yokoyama A., Z. Wang, J. Wysocka, M. Sanyal, D. J. Aufiero, I. Kitabayashi, W. Herr, M. L. Cleary: Leukemia proto-oncoprotein MLL forms a SET1-like histone methyltransferase complex with Menin to regulate Hox gene expression. *Mol Cell Biol* 24, 5639-49 (2004)

43. Hess J. L.: MLL: a histone methyltransferase disrupted in leukemia. *Trends Mol Med* 10, 500-7 (2004)

44. Hess J. L.: Mechanisms of transformation by MLL. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr* 14, 235-54 (2004)

45. Xia Z. B., M. Anderson, M. O. Diaz, N. J. Zeleznik-Le: MLL repression domain interacts with histone deacetylases, the polycomb group proteins HPC2 and BMI-1, and the corepressor C-terminal-binding protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100, 8342-7 (2003)

46. Li H., S. Ilin, W. Wang, E. M. Duncan, J. Wysocka, C. D. Allis, D. J. Patel: Molecular basis for site-specific readout of histone H3K4me3 by the BPTF PHD finger of NURF. *Nature* 442, 91-5 (2006)

47. Hsieh J. J., E. H. Cheng, S. J. Korsmeyer: Taspase1: a threonine aspartase required for cleavage of MLL and proper HOX gene expression. *Cell* 115, 293-303 (2003)

48. Liu H., S. Takeda, E. H. Cheng, J. J. Hsieh: Biphasic MLL takes helm at cell cycle control: implications in human mixed lineage leukemia. *Cell Cycle* 7, 428-35 (2008)

49. Takeda S., D. Y. Chen, T. D. Westergard, J. K. Fisher, J. A. Rubens, S. Sasagawa, J. T. Kan, S. J. Korsmeyer, E. H. Cheng, J. J. Hsieh: Proteolysis of MLL family proteins is essential for taspase1-orchestrated cell cycle progression. *Genes Dev* 20, 2397-409 (2006)

50. Dreijerink K. M., K. W. Mulder, G. S. Winkler, J. W. Hoppener, C. J. Lips, H. T. Timmers: Menin links estrogen receptor activation to histone H3K4 trimethylation. *Cancer Res* 66, 4929-35 (2006)

51. Lee S., D. K. Lee, Y. Dou, J. Lee, B. Lee, E. Kwak, Y. Y. Kong, S. K. Lee, R. G. Roeder, J. W. Lee: Coactivator as a target gene specificity determinant for histone H3 lysine 4 methyltransferases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 15392-7 (2006)

52. Lee S., J. Lee, S. K. Lee, J. W. Lee: Activating signal cointegrator-2 is an essential adaptor to recruit histone H3 lysine 4 methyltransferases MLL3 and MLL4 to the liver X receptors. *Mol Endocrinol* 22, 1312-9 (2008)

53. Terranova R., H. Agherbi, A. Boned, S. Meresse, M. Djabali: Histone and DNA methylation defects at Hox genes in mice expressing a SET domain-truncated form of Mll. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 6629-34 (2006)

54. Akao Y., H. Mizoguchi, K. Misiura, W. J. Stec, M. Seto, N. Ohishi, K. Yagi: Antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotide against the MLL-LTG19 chimeric transcript inhibits cell growth and induces apoptosis in cells of an infantile leukemia cell line carrying the t (11;19) chromosomal translocation. *Cancer Res* 58, 3773-6 (1998)

55. Yagi H., K. Deguchi, A. Aono, Y. Tani, T. Kishimoto, T. Komori: Growth disturbance in fetal liver hematopoiesis of Mll-mutant mice. *Blood* 92, 108-17 (1998)

56. Yu B. D., J. L. Hess, S. E. Horning, G. A. Brown, S. J. Korsmeyer: Altered Hox expression and segmental identity in Mll-mutant mice. *Nature* 378, 505-8 (1995)

57. Ayton P. M., M. L. Cleary: Molecular mechanisms of leukemogenesis mediated by MLL fusion proteins. *Oncogene* 20, 5695-707 (2001)

58. Collins E. C., A. Appert, L. Ariza-McNaughton, R. Pannell, Y. Yamada, T. H. Rabbitts: Mouse Af9 is a controller of embryo patterning, like Mll, whose human homologue fuses with Af9 after chromosomal translocation in leukemia. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 7313-24 (2002)

59. Collins E. C., T. H. Rabbitts: The promiscuous MLL gene links chromosomal translocations to cellular differentiation and tumour tropism. *Trends Mol Med* 8, 436-42 (2002)

60. Ruault M., M. E. Brun, M. Ventura, G. Roizes, A. De Sario: MLL3, a new human member of the TRX/MLL gene family, maps to 7q36, a chromosome region frequently deleted in myeloid leukaemia. *Gene* 284, 73-81 (2002)

61. Tan Y. C., V. T. Chow: Novel human HALR (MLL3) gene encodes a protein homologous to ALR and to ALL-1 involved in leukemia, and maps to chromosome 7q36 associated with leukemia and developmental defects. *Cancer Detect Prev* 25, 454-69 (2001)

62. Hughes C. M., O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, T. A. Milne, T. D. Copeland, S. S. Levine, J. C. Lee, D. N. Hayes, K. S. Shanmugam, A. Bhattacharjee, C. A. Biondi, G. F. Kay, N. K. Hayward, J. L. Hess, M. Meyerson: Menin associates with a trithorax family histone methyltransferase complex and with the hoxc8 locus. *Mol Cell* 13, 587-97 (2004)

63. Milne T. A., S. D. Briggs, H. W. Brock, M. E. Martin, D. Gibbs, C. D. Allis, J. L. Hess: MLL targets SET domain methyltransferase activity to Hox gene promoters. *Mol Cell* 10, 1107-1117 (2002)

64. Wysocka J., M. P. Myers, C. D. Laherty, R. N. Eisenman, W. Herr: Human Sin3 deacetylase and trithorax-related Set1/Ash2 histone H3-K4 methyltransferase are

tethered together selectively by the cell-proliferation factor HCF-1. *Genes Dev* 17, 896-911 (2003)

65. Ansari K. I., B. P. Mishra, S. S. Mandal: Human CpG binding protein interacts with MLL1, MLL2 and hSet1 and regulates Hox gene expression. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1779, 66-73 (2008)

66. Cho Y. W., T. Hong, S. Hong, H. Guo, H. Yu, D. Kim, T. Guszczynski, G. R. Dressler, T. D. Copeland, M. Kalkum, K. Ge: PTIP Associates with MLL3- and MLL4containing Histone H3 Lysine 4 Methyltransferase Complex. *J Biol Chem* 282, 20395-406 (2007)

67. Wysocka J., T. Swigut, T. A. Milne, Y. Dou, X. Zhang, A. L. Burlingame, R. G. Roeder, A. H. Brivanlou, C. D. Allis: WDR5 associates with histone H3 methylated at K4 and is essential for H3 K4 methylation and vertebrate development. *Cell* 121, 859-72 (2005)

68. Lee J. H., D. G. Skalnik: CpG-binding protein is a nuclear matrix- and euchromatin-associated protein localized to nuclear speckles containing human trithorax. Identification of nuclear matrix targeting signals. *J Biol Chem* 277, 42259-67 (2002)

69. Lee J. H., D. G. Skalnik: CpG-binding protein (CXXC finger protein 1) is a component of the mammalian Set1 histone H3-Lys4 methyltransferase complex, the analogue of the yeast Set1/COMPASS complex. *J Biol Chem* 280, 41725-31 (2005)

70. McGinnis W., R. Krumlauf: Homeobox genes and axial patterning. *Cell* 68, 283-302 (1992)

71. Sauvageau G., P. M. Lansdorp, C. J. Eaves, D. E. Hogge, W. H. Dragowska, D. S. Reid, C. Largman, H. J. Lawrence, R. K. Humphries: Differential expression of homeobox genes in functionally distinct CD34+ subpopulations of human bone marrow cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91, 12223-7 (1994)

72. Lawrence H. J., G. Sauvageau, R. K. Humphries, C. Largman: The role of HOX homeobox genes in normal and leukemic hematopoiesis. *Stem Cells* 14, 281-91 (1996)

73. Pineault N., C. D. Helgason, H. J. Lawrence, R. K. Humphries: Differential expression of Hox, Meis1, and Pbx1 genes in primitive cells throughout murine hematopoietic ontogeny. *Exp Hematol* 30, 49-57 (2002)

74. Mazo A. M., D. H. Huang, B. A. Mozer, I. B. Dawid: The trithorax gene, a trans-acting regulator of the bithorax complex in Drosophila, encodes a protein with zinc-binding domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87, 2112-6 (1990)

75. Yu B. D., R. D. Hanson, J. L. Hess, S. E. Horning, S. J. Korsmeyer: MLL, a mammalian trithorax-group gene, functions as a transcriptional maintenance factor in morphogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95, 10632-6 (1998)

76. Yu B. D., J. L. Hess, S. E. Horning, G. A. J. Brown, S. J. Korsmeyer: Altered Hox Expression and Segmental Identity in Mll-Mutant Mice. *Nature* 378, 505-508 (1995)

77. Milne T. A., C. M. Hughes, R. Lloyd, Z. H. Yang, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, Y. L. Dou, R. W. Schnepp, C. Krankel, V. A. LiVolsi, D. Gibbs, X. X. Hua, R. G. Roeder, M. Meyerson, J. L. Hess: Menin and MLL cooperatively regulate expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 749-754 (2005)

78. Nakamura T., T. Mori, S. Tada, W. Krajewski, T. Rozovskaia, R. Wassell, G. Dubois, A. Mazo, C. M. Croce, E. Canaani: ALL-1 is a histone methyltransferase that assembles a supercomplex of proteins involved in transcriptional regulation. *Mol Cell* 10, 1119-28 (2002)

79. Hanson R. D., J. L. Hess, B. D. Yu, P. Ernst, M. van Lohuizen, A. Berns, N. M. van der Lugt, C. S. Shashikant, F. H. Ruddle, M. Seto, S. J. Korsmeyer: Mammalian Trithorax and polycomb-group homologues are antagonistic regulators of homeotic development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 14372-7 (1999)

80. So C. W., M. Lin, P. M. Ayton, E. H. Chen, M. L. Cleary: Dimerization contributes to oncogenic activation of MLL chimeras in acute leukemias. *Cancer Cell* 4, 99-110 (2003)

81. Khan J. A., B. M. Dunn, L. Tong: Crystal structure of human Taspase1, a crucial protease regulating the function of MLL. *Structure* 13, 1443-52 (2005)

82. Milne T. A., Y. L. Dou, M. E. Martin, H. W. Brock, R. G. Roeder, J. L. Hess: MLL associates specifically with a subset of transcriptionally active target genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 14765-14770 (2005)

83. Vaux D. L., J. Silke: IAPs, RINGs and ubiquitylation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6, 287-97 (2005)

84. Alarid E. T., N. Bakopoulos, N. Solodin: Proteasomemediated proteolysis of estrogen receptor: a novel component in autologous down-regulation. *Mol Endocrinol* 13, 1522-34 (1999)

85. Ogawa H., K. Ishiguro, S. Gaubatz, D. M. Livingston, Y. Nakatani: A complex with chromatin modifiers that occupies E2F- and Myc-responsive genes in G0 cells. *Science* 296, 1132-6 (2002)

86. Hsieh, J. J. D., P. Ernst, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst & S. J. Korsmeyer: Proteolytic cleavage of MLL generates a complex of N- and C-terminal fragments that confers protein stability and subnuclear localization. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, 186-194 (2003)

87. Tyagi S., A. L. Chabes, J. Wysocka, W. Herr: E2F activation of S phase promoters via association with HCF-1 and the MLL family of histone H3K4 methyltransferases. *Mol Cell* 27, 107-19 (2007)

88. Cheng F., J. Liu, S. H. Zhou, X. N. Wang, J. F. Chew, L. W. Deng: RNA interference against mixed lineage leukemia 5 resulted in cell cycle arrest. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 40, 2472-81 (2008)

89.Deng L. W., I. Chiu, J. L. Strominger: MLL 5 protein forms intranuclear foci, and overexpression inhibits cell cycle progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 757-62 (2004)

90. Milne T. A., C. M. Hughes, R. Lloyd, Z. Yang, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, Y. Dou, R. W. Schnepp, C. Krankel, V. A. Livolsi, D. Gibbs, X. Hua, R. G. Roeder, M. Meyerson, J. L. Hess: Menin and MLL cooperatively regulate expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 749-54 (2005)

91. Raman V., S. A. Martensen, D. Reisman, E. Evron, W. F. Odenwald, E. Jaffee, J. Marks, S. Sukumar: Compromised HOXA5 function can limit p53 expression in human breast tumours. *Nature* 405, 974-8 (2000)

92. Bromleigh V. C., L. P. Freedman: p21 is a transcriptional target of HOXA10 in differentiating myelomonocytic cells. *Genes Dev* 14, 2581-6 (2000)

93. Qian K., H. Chen, H. W. Zhang, Y. F. Li, L. Jin, G. J. Zhu: (Expression of p57 and homeobox A10 during decidualization of endometrial stromal cell *in vitro*.). *Sheng Li Xue Bao* 57, 498-504 (2005)

94. Lu Z., J. Hardt, J. J. Kim: Global analysis of genes regulated by HOXA10 in decidualization reveals a role in cell proliferation. *Mol Hum Reprod* 14, 357-66 (2008)

95. Sims R. J. 3rd,, D. Reinberg: Histone H3 Lys 4 methylation: caught in a bind? *Genes Dev* 20, 2779-86 (2006)

Key Words: Mixed lineage leukemia, histone methyltransferase, gene regulation, hormone signaling, cell cycle, Hox genes, Review

Send correspondence to: Subhrangsu S. Mandal, Gene Regulation and Disease Laboratory, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, The University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, Texas 76019, Tel: 817-272-3804, Fax: 817-272-3808, E-mail: smandal@uta.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm